1998

Loporto v. Lucy Z. (Loporto) Hoegemann : Amended Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to § 78-2a-3, Utah Code Ann. (1996).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE NO. 1

In light of the defendant's lack of notice of the trial setting, was it proper for the trial court to deny defendant's motion to be relieved from the July 7, 1997 judgment? This issue was raised in plaintiff's Motion for Relief from Decree filed September 18, 1997.

Standard of Review

A denial of a motion to vacate a judgment under Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is ordinarily reversed only for an abuse of discretion. Katz v. Pierce, 732 P.2d 92, 93 (Utah 1996); Russell v. Martell, 681 P.2d 1193, 1994 (Utah 1984); Baker v. Western Sur. Co., 757 P.2d 878, 881 (Utah App. 1988).

ISSUE NO. 2

In light of the procedural errors of defendant's former counsel, plaintiff's counsel, and the trial court, was it proper for the trial court to deny defendant's motion to be relieved from the July 7, 1997 judgment? This issue was raised in plaintiff's Motion for Relief from Decree, filed September 18, 1997, and Motion to Reconsider, filed December 29, 1997.

Standard of Review

A denial of a motion to vacate a judgment under Rule 60(b) is ordinarily reversed only for an abuse of discretion. Katz v. Pierce, 732 P.2d 92, 93 (Utah 1996); Russell v. Martell, 681

P.2d 1193, 1994 (Utah 1984); Baker v. Western Sur. Co., 757 P.2d 878, 881 (Utah App. 1988).

Whether the proper procedures were followed is a question of law and is reviewed for correctness. Hartford Leasing Corp. v. Utah, 888 P.2d 694 (Utah App. 1994). Since this claim presents a question of law, it is reviewed under a correction of error standard, giving no particular deference to the trial court's determination. See Ames v. Maas, 846 P.2d 468, 471 (Utah App. 1993); Holm v. Smilowitz, 840 P.2d 157, 160 (Utah App. 1992).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

Section 78-51-36, Utah Code Ann. (1996)

When an attorney dies or is removed or suspended, or ceases to act as such, a party to an action or proceeding for whom he was acting as attorney must, before any further proceedings are had against him be required by the adverse party, by written notice, to appoint another attorney or to appear in person.

Rule 60, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

(a) Clerical mistakes. Clerical mistakes in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising from oversight or omission may be corrected by the court at any time of its own initiative or on the motion of any party and after such notice, if any, as the court orders. During the pendency of an appeal, such mistakes may be so corrected before the appeal is docketed in the appellate court, and thereafter while the appeal is pending may be so corrected with leave of the appellate court.

(b) Mistakes; inadvertence; excusable neglect; newly discovered evidence; fraud, etc.

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a

party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); (3) fraud (whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation or other misconduct of an adverse party; (4) the judgment is void; (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application; or (6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment. The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1), (2), or (3), not more than 3 months after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken. A motion under this Subdivision (b) does not affect the finality of a judgment or suspend its operation. This rule does not limit the power of a court to entertain an independent action to relieve a party from a judgment, order or proceeding or to set aside a judgment for fraud upon the court. The procedure for obtaining any relief from a judgment shall be by motion as prescribed in these rules or by an independent action.

Rule 4-506, Utah Code of Judicial Administration

(1) Consistent with the Rules of Professional Conduct, an attorney may withdraw as counsel of record except when (a) a motion has been filed and is pending before the court or (b) a certificate of readiness for trial has been filed. Under these circumstances, an attorney may not withdraw except upon motion and order of the court. When an attorney withdraws under circumstances court approval is not required, the notice of withdrawal shall include a statement

by the attorney that there are no motions pending and that no certificate or readiness of trial has been filed.

(2) When an attorney withdraws as counsel of record, the withdrawing attorney must serve written notice of the withdrawal upon the client of the withdrawing attorney and upon all other parties not in default and a certificate of service must be filed with the court. If a trial date has been set, the notice of withdrawal shall include a notification of the trial date.

(4) When an attorney dies or is removed or suspended or withdraws from the case or ceases to act as an attorney, opposing counsel must notify the unrepresented client of his/her responsibility to retain another attorney or to appear in person before opposing counsel can initiate further proceedings against the client. A copy of the written notice shall be filed with the court and no further proceedings shall be held in the case until 20 days have elapsed from the date of filing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A complaint for divorce was filed in this matter was filed on or about July 18, 1995. The parties have two young children (R. 2-3). During the marriage, plaintiff worked as a pharmacist and defendant was a homemaker.

After extensive litigation, a notice of bench trial scheduled for Monday, June 23, 1997 was served upon the parties' counsel on May 21, 1997 (R. 172). Defendant received no notice of any hearing until the Friday before trial at approximately 4:50 p.m. (R. 228). At that time, her counsel called and notified her that there was a hearing scheduled on the following Monday (R. 228-9). She was told that it was just a hearing and that she could appear by telephone (R. 229).

On the morning of trial, the defendant's counsel sought leave from the court to withdraw (R. 184). Leave was granted, the court struck the defendant's answer, her default was entered, and plaintiff was awarded his attorneys fees and costs (R. 184, 398). Counsel for the plaintiff then requested further relief not in requested in his complaint, which the court granted (R. 184, 398). No notice to appear or appoint counsel was filed. The notice of withdrawal of defendant's counsel was filed until June 25, 1997 (R. 185).

A final order was entered on July 7, 1997 (R. 208). This order included further relief not requested in plaintiff's complaint or at trial (R. 229-30).

Plaintiff filed her Rule 60(b) motion and supporting affidavit on September 18, 1997. Defendant filed his responsive objection to the motion on October 6, 1997. It was unsupported by affidavit or other documentation. No hearing was requested by either party. Defendant filed his reply memorandum on October 14, 1997 and submitted the matter for decision on October 23, 1998. The trial court denied by the motion by an order entered December 19, 1997 (R. 355). Defendant filed a motion to reconsider on December 29, 1997 (R. 358). An order denying the motion to reconsider was entered January 21, 1998 (R. 377).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Due to the actions or inaction of her former counsel, defendant was denied effective notice of the trial in this matter. Her failure to appear at trial constitutes a mistake, surprise or excusable neglect pursuant to Rule 60(b)(1), Utah R. Civ. P.

At trial, the defendant's former counsel sought and received the court's leave to withdraw as counsel. Rule 4-506 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration provides that plaintiff's

counsel was then required to file a notice to appear or appoint counsel and that no further proceedings shall be held in the case until 20 days have elapsed from the filing of the notice. Contrary to Rule 4-506, the court in this matter immediately struck the pleadings of the defendant and granted additional relief to the plaintiff.

ARGUMENT

I. SURPRISE, MISTAKE OR EXCUSABLE NEGLIGENCE

A. Defendant Had No Effective Notice of the Trial

Trial in this case was scheduled for June 23, 1997. Defendant was not made aware that there was a hearing scheduled in her case by her prior counsel until the Friday before trial at 4:50 p.m. (R. 228) He did not make her aware that it was the final trial in the matter and did not inform her that she would not have to appear (R. 229). Mr. Dent consequently sought the leave of the court to withdraw as counsel and filed a notice of withdrawal. The defendant's answer was then stricken, her default entered, and the plaintiff was granted additional relief (R. 229-30, 398). A default judgment was entered July 7, 1997.

On motion and upon such terms are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party from a final judgment for mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect. Rule 60, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Where any reasonable excuse is offered by the defaulting party, courts generally favor granting relief from a default judgment, unless it appears that to do so would result in substantial injustice to the adverse party. Westinghouse Elec. Supply Co. v. Paul W. Larsen Contractor, 544 P.2d 876 (Utah 1975). The court in Mayhew v. Standard Gilsonite Company, 376 P.2d 951 (Utah 1962) held that:

It is undoubtedly correct that the trial court is endowed with considerable latitude of discretion in granting or denying such motions. However, it is also true that the court cannot act arbitrarily in that regard, but should be generally indulgent toward permitting full inquiry and knowledge of disputes so they can be settled advisedly and in conformity with law and justice. To clamp a judgment rigidly and irrevocably on a party without a hearing is obviously a harsh and oppressive thing. It is fundamental in our system of justice that each party to a controversy should be afforded an opportunity to present his side of the case. For that reason it is quite uniformly regarded as an abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate a default judgment where there is reasonable justification or excuse for the defendant's failure to appear, and timely application is made to set it aside.

In the instant matter, the defendant was not effectively apprised of the trial date, apparently due to the neglect, mistake, or inadvertence of her counsel. The fact that she did not appear was due to surprise. The "harsh and oppressive" default judgment issued by the trial court in this matter is contrary to the purpose of Rule 60(b).

The plaintiff, in his response to defendant's motion did not deny or controvert the facts as given in defendant's memorandum. No supporting affidavit was filed with his memorandum. Rule 4-501(1)(B) of the Code of judicial administration provides that "The responding party shall file and serve upon all parties within ten days after service of a motion, a memorandum in opposition to the motion, and all supporting documentation." [emphasis added]. As the plaintiff failed to provide any verified facts, the evidence presented by the defendant was the only evidence before the trial court.

It is quite uniformly regarded as an abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate a default judgment where there is reasonable justification or excuse for the defendant's failure to appear, and timely application is made to set it aside. Mayhew v. Standard Gilsonite Company, 376 P.2d 951, 952 (1962).

The negligence of attorneys are ground to remove default judgments under the rubric of

mistake, surprise or excusable neglect. See Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co., 260 P.2d 741 (Utah 1953); Interstate Excavating, Inc. v. Agla Dev. Corp., 611 P.2d 369 (Utah 1980); Helgesen v. Inyangumia, 636 P.2d 1079 (Utah 1981).

B. Rule 60(b) Motion was Timely and Defendant had Meritorious Defense

In order for defendant to be relieved from a default judgment, she must not only show that the judgment was entered against her through any reason specified in Rule 60(b), but she must also show that his motion to set aside the judgment was timely, and that she has a meritorious defense to the action. State ex rel. Utah State Dep't of Social Servs. v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053 (Utah 1983). The courts, in the interest of justice and fair play, favor, where possible, a full and complete opportunity for a hearing on the merits of every case. Heathman v. Fabian, 377 P.2d 189 (Utah 1962). In the instant matter, defendant has filed her motion within 90 days of the judgment being entered and defendant alleges that several portions of the decree would have been different had the issues been litigated (R. 229-30). Further, the plaintiff did include relief in the decree which he did not request in his complaint (R. 229-30). This relief would not have been available at trial. The defendant was awarded attorneys fees, without the trial court having made findings regarding plaintiff's financial need, the defendant's ability to pay, or the reasonableness of the fees as required by Larson v. Larson, 888 P.2d 719, 726 (Utah App. 1994).

The defendant in her affidavit and motion asserts that a hearing on the merits of the case would have resulted in a different outcome and that the decree entered by the court contains relief which the plaintiff did not request in his complaint (R. 229-30). Usually, it is not appropriate to

examine the merits of such claims. Erickson v. Sheners Int'l Forwarders, Inc., 882 P.2d 1147 (Utah 1994).

Clearly, under these circumstances, where the defendant was (1) not notified of the hearing date until 4:50 p.m. on the Friday before trial, (2) her attorney told her that she did not have to appear, (3) her attorney did not tell her that it was the final trial in the matter but only another hearing, and (4) her attorney told her that she could appear telephonically for whatever hearing was to take place, it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to deny defendant's Rule 60(b) motion.

II. NO NOTICE GIVEN TO DEFENDANT TO APPEAR OR APPOINT COUNSEL

A. Rule 4-506 Not Complied With

As was held in Sperry v. Smith, and 694 P.2d 581 (Utah 1984) and Interstate Excavating, Inc. v. Agla Dev. Corp., 611 P.2d 369 (Utah 1980), after the withdrawal of an attorney the unrepresented party must be given notice to appear or appoint counsel before further proceedings are held. Rule 4-506 of the Code of Judicial Administration requires that:

When an attorney dies or is removed or suspended or withdraws from the case or ceases to act as an attorney, opposing counsel must notify, in writing, the unrepresented client of his/her responsibility to retain another attorney or appear in person before opposing counsel can initiate further proceedings against the client. A copy of the written notice shall be filed with the court and *no further proceeding shall be held in the matter until 20 days have elapsed from the date of filing.* [emphasis added]

This procedure was clearly not complied with in the instant matter. After the court allowed Mr. Dent to withdraw, the plaintiff was granted default judgment against the defendant. The first sentence of 4-506(3) imposes a burden upon Mr. Christensen, which he did not fulfill. The second sentence imposes a burden upon the court that nor further proceedings be held until Mr.

Christensen does his duty. Here, after Mr. Dent withdrew, Mr. Christensen did not file the appropriate notice. Further, the court took action against the defendant before the proper notice was filed. The rule is clear that no further proceeding may be held until 20 days after filing of the notice. The rule grants no discretion to the trial court to ignore or waive its provisions.

This case is similar to Sperry v. Smith, 694 P.2d 581 (Utah 1984). There, the defendants retained an attorney to represent them. He later notified them of a hearing for summary judgment but and withdrew as their counsel. The attorney filed and served a notice of withdrawal on plaintiff's counsel. At the summary judgment hearing, the defendants did not appear and summary judgment was granted. The defendants then re-retained the same attorney and he filed a Rule 60(b) motion based upon subsections 60(b)(3) ("misconduct of an adverse party") and (6) ("any other reason justifying relief from operation of the judgment"). The defendants complained that plaintiff's counsel had failed follow the predecessor to Rule 4-506. Specifically, plaintiff's counsel had failed to provide a notice to appear or appoint counsel before further proceedings were had against the defendants.

In Sperry, the plaintiff claimed that the district court had the right to waive compliance with the predecessor to Rule 4-506, Rule 2.5 of the Rules of Practice of the District Court of the State of Utah. The Utah Supreme Court did not necessarily fault the plaintiff's counsel for failing to comply with procedural requirements, as he did not receive a copy of the notice of withdrawal. However, the trial judge was aware of the withdrawal. The Supreme Court held that:

[T]he trial judge should have required plaintiff's attorney to then give notice to [the defendants] in accordance with Rule 2.5 before proceeding to hear and grant the motion for summary judgment. Since the judgment was entered after the failure of the court to

follow one of its own rules, we conclude that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to set aside the summary judgment when the error was brought to its attention.

Sperry, 694 P.2d at 583. The situation in Sperry was the very situation which Rule 4-506 was designed to address. Justice Howe, joined in his opinion by Chief Justice Hall, and Justices Stewart, Durham and Zimmerman, held that the defendants “should not be deprived of the salutary protection of the rule.” The summary judgment was vacated.

In this case, the defendant also received notice of a hearing, but she was told she did not need to appear and was not told the nature of the hearing. The defendants in Sperry were notified of these facts. The defendants in Sperry had some advanced notice of their attorneys withdrawal, and the defendant here did not. Counsel for the plaintiff in Sperry had no actual notice of the withdrawal of opposing counsel, but Mr. Christensen was standing in the court room in this case. In both cases, the trial court allowed further proceedings to take place without a notice to appear or appoint being filed and served. Sperry is a less egregious abuse of discretion than the instant matter. In that case, the defendants and plaintiff’s counsel had greater knowledge of the situation than here.

In Interstate Excavating, Inc. v. Agla Development Corp., 611 P.2d 369 (Utah 1980), the defendant’s attorney withdrew at the pretrial conference. A notice of withdrawal was filed by the defendant’s attorney and a notice to appear or appoint filed by plaintiff’s counsel. The defendant denied receiving either notice. When defendant did not appear at trial, a default was entered against it. A Rule 60(b) motion was denied and, as here, the trial court made no findings other than the denial of the motion. After reciting that courts are generally indulgent toward the setting aside of default judgments and “where there is doubt about setting it aside, the doubt should be

resolved in favor of doing so,” the court concluded that the interests of justice would be served by setting aside the default and allowing the parties to present their side of the controversy. The default judgment was vacated. In this matter, the defendant maintains that she had no knowledge that the trial was to be held on June 23, 1997 and had been told by her counsel that she did not need to appear (R. 229). No contrary evidence was presented prior to the matter being submitted for decision. There was evidence before the court in Interstate Excavating that the defendants had been sent the notice of withdrawal and notice to appear or appoint prior to the default having been entered. Here, it is clear that the defendant was not mailed the notice of withdrawal until after the default was entered and that Mr. Christensen, plaintiff’s counsel, never served a notice to appear or appoint. As was the case in Sperry, the Interstate Excavating case is a much less egregious abuse of discretion than the instant matter.

Trial courts are given no discretion to ignore the provisions of Rule 4-506. In Hartford Leasing Corp. v. State, 888 P.2d 694 (Utah App. 1994), the trial court excused the State for failing to provide a notice to appear or appoint. The court held that “the rule’s provisions, however, offer no room for such discretion to excuse noncompliance: ‘opposing counsel *must* . . . *before* opposing counsel can initiate further proceedings.’” [citation omitted]. Hartford Leasing Corp., 888 P.2d at 700. The prohibition against any further proceedings being held is likewise mandatory: “no further proceedings *shall* be held . . .” [emphasis added] Utah Code of Judicial Administration, Rule 4-506(3).

B. Section 78-51-36 Not Complied With

Further, a notice to appear or appoint is required by statute. Section 78-51-36 of the Utah Code provides that:

When an attorney dies or is removed or suspended, or ceases to act as such, a party to an action or proceeding for whom he was acting as attorney must, before any further proceedings are had against him be required by the adverse party, by written notice, to appoint another attorney or to appear in person.

Mr. Dent's withdrawal of counsel on the morning of trial is the same as if he died or been suspended. He ceased to act and Ms. Hoegemann's attorney without providing the reasonable notice as required by Rule 1.16(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. Again, the procedure required by statute was not followed, and the defendant was not given proper notice to appear or appoint counsel before further proceedings were initiated against her.

CONCLUSION