1998

# John A. Loporto v. Lucy Z. Hoegemann : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### VIII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

It is the position of the plaintiff/appellee that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in failing to grant the defendant's motion to set aside the judgment against the defendant/appellant. It is clearly within the court's discretion to let the judgment stand. Plaintiff/appellee asserts that Rule 55(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and applicable case law govern the instant case before this court.

The defendant/appellant's position is that the Court of Appeals should reverse the case for further proceedings based upon mistake, excusable neglect, or surprise pursuant to Rule 60(b), Utah R.Civ.P.. The defendant/appellant further asserts that plaintiff's counsel had a duty, pursuant to Rule 4-506 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration and Utah Code Ann §78-51-36 to advise the defendant that she should appoint or appear in person before judgment was rendered. This argument is not well grounded in law or fact.

### IX. ARGUMENT

#### A. DEFENDANT HAD EFFECTIVE NOTICE OF THE TRIAL.

Trial in this case was scheduled on June 23, 1997. Defendant's counsel received notice May 21, 1997, of the trial scheduled June 23, 1997 (R. 228). Counsel for the

defendant/appellant made her aware of the court date on by at least the Friday, June 20, 1997, prior to the trial. Defendant asserts that her counsel informed her that she would not have to appear (R. 229). This assertion is disingenuous at best and a fraud upon the court at worst. The defendant/appellant is just not credible based upon her past behavior. At a hearing held in May of 1997, the trial court made it clear that the case would be set for trial at the earliest possible date that could accommodate a one (1) day trial. No other hearings were proposed or notices sent to the parties or their respective counsels of record.

Counsel for the defendant makes the argument that the defendant had no effective notice of the trial. The defendant would have the court believe that although placed on notice the Friday before the Monday trial, this was not effective notice and that her counsel told her that she need not appear and that she could appear telephonically although he was present and asked for leave to withdraw at the time and place set for trial (R. 184).

The trial court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party from a final judgment for mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect pursuant to Rule 60 Utah R.Civ.P.. Where any reasonable excuse is offered by the defaulting party, courts generally favor granting relief from a default judgment unless it appears that to do so would result in substantial injustice to the

adverse party. (citing Miller v. Brocksmith, 825 P.2d 690, 692 (1992 Utah App.) and Airkem Intermountain v. Parker, 513 P.2d 429 (Utah 1973)).

In the instant case, the defendant by way of her own affidavit admits to being on notice of the court date scheduled June 23, 1997. There is no reasonable justification for the defendant not to have appeared. Her counsel was present.

After two years of extensive litigation, a substantial injustice would be heaped upon the plaintiff/appellee. Additionally, the court made findings that defendant's recalcitrant behavior was the basis of the judgment. (See Exhibit B, copy of court transcript of June 23, 1997 trial proceedings).

The defendant in her motion and affidavit asserts that a trial on the merits of the case would have resulted in a different outcome. It is not appropriate for the court to examine the merits of such claims Erickson v. Whenkers Int'l Forwarders, Inc., 882 P.2d 1147 (Utah 1994). The defendant would have the court interpose its decision for that of the trial court and find that it is reasonable to believe that: (1) Notice the Friday before trial was not effective, although notice had been hand delivered to defendant's counsel May 21, 1997; (2) that her attorney told her that she need not appear; (3) that he did not advise her that it was trial; (4) that she could appear telephonically.

Plaintiff/appellee's position is that the facts as presented by the defendant/appellant are wholly unreasonable and or not sufficient grounds to find that the trial court's decision was an abuse of discretion.

The trial court is endowed with considerable latitude of discretion in granting or denying a motion to relieve a party from a final judgment under Rule 60(b)(1) U.R.C.P., and this court will reverse the trial court only when an abuse of discretion is **clearly established**. The trial court must balance two valid considerations: on the one hand, to relieve the party of the judgment initiates the effects of res judicata and creates a hardship for the successful litigant by causing him to prosecute more than once his action and subjecting him to the possible loss of collecting his judgment. On the other hand, the court desires to protect the losing party who has not had the opportunity to present his claim or defense. The rule that the courts will incline towards granting relief to a party who has not had the opportunity to present his case, is ordinarily applied at the trial court level, and this court will not reverse the determination of the trial court merely because the motion could have been granted. For this court to overturn the discretion of the lower court in refusing to vacate a valid judgment, the requirements of public policy demand more than a mere statement that a person did not have his day in court when full opportunity for a fair hearing was afforded him or his legal representative. The movant must show that he has used **due diligence** and that he was prevented from appearing by circumstances over which he had no control. Airkem Intermountain, Inc., v. Parker 513 P.2d 429 (Utah S.Ct. 1973). [Emphasis added].

In the instant case, the Court advised defendant/appellant in May that the trial would be set at the court's earliest possible convenience. No other motions or notices of hearing were sent to the parties or counsels of record. The Court sent notice of the trial setting for June 23, 1997, to both parties' legal

representatives. The defendant admits in her affidavit that she was notified of the June 23, 1997, date the week before the trial. Affidavit of counsel for the defendant specifically states that he told her of the date and that they needed to get together to prepare for trial. (Attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit C and made a part hereof, Affidavit of Harold J. Dent). The defendant refused and told her counsel that she had a family outing and that she had to work on the following Monday so that she could not be present in court. By these actions of the defendant, she does not show due diligence in defending her position, or in prosecuting her counter-claim.

II. NOTICE TO APPOINT COUNSEL OR APPEAR IS INAPPLICABLE TO THE INSTANT CASE

Rule 4-506 of Utah Rules of Judicial Administration and Utah Code Annotated §78-51-36 are inapplicable to this case.

Counsel for the defendant/appellant's position is that on the date of trial, counsel for plaintiff/appellee, Mr. Christensen, had a duty to protect the defendant and that failure to do so is reversible error. Rule 4-506(3) of Utah Code of Jud. Admin. and Utah Code Annotated §78-51-36 require that:

If an attorney withdraws as counsel of record, the withdrawing attorney must serve written notice of the withdrawal upon the client of the withdrawing attorney and upon all other **parties not in default**: A Certificate of service must be filed with the court. If a trial date

has been set, the notice of withdrawal shall include a notification of the trial date. [Emphasis added].

The court in the instant case struck defendant's pleadings, thus placing her in a position of default. This sanction is clearly within the discretion of the trial court, based upon the Court's making a specific finding of her past recalcitrance and of her own failure to appear and defend at the time of trial.

The language of Rule 4-506 is that "notice of the withdrawal... upon all other parties not in default" obviates opposing counsel's duty to notify the defendant to appear or appoint. The striking of her pleadings, based upon defendant's own recalcitrant behavior towards orders of the court, placed her in default. Defendant/appellant herself, and no one else, is responsible for her default--not her various attorneys, not the court, not opposing counsel, and not plaintiff, although all were victimized by her costly pattern of no-shows, refusals to cooperate, and other recalcitrant behavior, as incorporated in the Court's findings in rendering her pleadings stricken and her cause defaulted.

Counsel for defendant/appellant goes on to argue that it is plaintiff's counsel's responsibility to stop the trial and file the notice to appoint or appear and that no further proceedings shall be held until twenty (20) days after service of the notice to appear or appoint. This is wholly inapplicable to the instant

case. The date for trial had come. The proceeding had commenced. No further proceedings were scheduled. The court struck the pleadings of defendant/appellant as indicated above and directed counsel for the plaintiff/appellee to take his judgment. The applicable law in the instant case is governed by Rule 55(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which states:

A) DEFAULT

(1) ENTRY. When a party against whom a judgment for affirmative relief is sought has failed to plead or otherwise defend as provided by these rules and that fact is made to appear, the clerk shall enter his default.

(2) NOTICE TO PARTY IN DEFAULT. After the entry of the default of any party, as provided in Subdivision (a)(1) of this rule, **it shall not be necessary to give such party in default any notice of actions taken or to be taken or to serve any notice or paper otherwise required by these rules to be served on a party to the action or proceeding, except as provided in Rule 5(a), in Rule 58A(d) or in the event that it is necessary for the court to conduct a hearing with regard to the amount of damages of the non-defaulting party.** [Emphasis added].

Rule 55(a) of Utah R.Civ.P. is clear. Once a party is found in default there is no reason for counsel for the opposing party to serve any paper whatsoever upon the defaulting party.

X. CONCLUSION

The trial court did not err or abuse its discretion in refusing

to set aside the default judgment against defendant/appellant. The applicable Utah State law in the instant case is well settled. The Appellate Court must first establish that the trial court **clearly abused** its discretion in failing to set aside a judgment taken by default. Merely because the trial court **could** relieve the defendant/appellant from judgment is permissive only, not mandatory. The trial court, being aware of all the facts in the instant case, **may** relieve a party from judgment by default, but as a matter of law, if no good cause is shown, it is not mandated to do so. The defendant/appellant, not plaintiff/appellee, must show due diligence, and that her failure to defend was caused by circumstances over which she had no control. Defendant has demonstrated no due diligence whatsoever, nor any other good cause, for her failure to appear and defend at the properly noticed trial which she was too busy to attend.

Defendant/appellant's reliance on Rule 4-506 of the U.R.J.A. and U.C.A. §78-51-36 is not well founded. Rule 55(a) of U.R.C.P. is the appropriate statute that governs this case. The trial was set. Notice was full, timely, and proper in all respects. The defendant/appellant failed to appear. The pleadings were stricken and the defendant/appellant was found to be recalcitrant towards the orders of the court. No notice or paper whatsoever needs to be served upon the defendant/appellant once placed in default.

Therefore, the defendant/appellant's appeal should be dismissed and costs and attorneys fees should be awarded to plaintiff/appellee.